IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND EDWARD BARNES,

Petitioner, :

VS. : CASE NO. SC02-1413

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

:

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

KATHLEEN STOVER #0513253 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER

LEON COUNTY

COURTHOUSE

SUITE 401

301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301

(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

AMENDMENTS AND CONSTITUTIONS	

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND EDWARD BARNES,

Petitioner, :

VS. : CASE NO. SC02-1413

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the decision of the First District Court of Appeal. Barnes v. State, 815 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002). The court per curiam affirmed, citing State v. Medlin, and Reed v. State, infra. At the time of the opinion, Reed was pending review in this court, but the court recently decided the case.

Petitioner, Raymond E. Barnes, was convicted at jury trial of possession of Lortab, a controlled substance. All proceed-ings were held in Santa Rosa County. Pretrial proceedings including jury selection were heard by Circuit Judge Paul Ras-mussen; Circuit Judge Ronald V. Swanson heard the trial and subsequent proceedings.

The one-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R," the supplement as "Supp," and the one-volume trial transcript as "T."

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Raymond Edward Barnes, was charged by informa-tion filed June 2, 1999, in Santa Rosa County, with possession of Lortab and resisting an officer without violence, the date alleged, April 30, 1999 (R 5). The state handwrote "/hydroco-done" without objection (T 8-9).

October 23, counsel filed a motion to suppress (R 8-10). Judge Rasmussen held a hearing November 2. The state stipu-lated to the facts in the motion; no other evidence was pre-sented (Supp 143-44). The court took the motion under advise-ment, then denied it in writing (R 12).

Barnes failed to make a court appearance, and the court issued a capias November 4 (R 11). He was arrested in Georgia around March, 2000 (R 14).

August 14, 2000, Barnes filed a copy of a letter sent to his attorney and the Florida Bar complaining about the quality of representation he had received (R 17-21). After a hearing, (R 99-110), the court allowed the Public Defender to withdraw and other counsel, William Wade, was appointed, with whom Barnes said he had had conflicts in the past (R 22-26).

At trial November 30, before Judge Swanson, at the close of the state's case, Barnes renewed his motion to suppress, which was denied (T 86-92) and moved to dismiss both charges on the ground the state had failed to make a

prima facie case, which was also denied (T 93-98).

During deliberations, the jury asked the following questions:

- 1) The definition of citizen contact.
- 2) What does a law enforcement officer have to say or do to indicate to a person that he is being detained?
- 3) Three criteria elements that need to be proved to each verdict.
- 4) At what point is it unlawful to walk away or flee from an officer?

(T 140-42). Without objection, as to question 1, the court instructed that the evidence was presented, and no additional evidence or instruction would be given; as to 2 and 4, it was a "factual determination for your determination." As to 3, he reinstructed the jury (T 142 et seq.). The court later gave an instruction when the jury reported they were deadlocked on one count (T 148 et seq.).

The jury found Barnes guilty as charged of Count 1 (R 53). The jury deadlocked on the resisting charge, which the state then dismissed (T 159,162, R 59).

The same day, November 30, Barnes was sentenced to 3 years, 4 months in prison, with credit for time served of 276 days (R 59-64). The credit for time served was later corrected (R 88-89). His lowest permissible sentence under the Criminal Punishment Code was 21.3 months (R 54-55).

Notice of appeal was timely filed December 27, 2000 (R

70). The First District Court of Appeal affirmed per curiam with cites to <u>Reed</u> and <u>Medlin</u>.

III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Santa Rosa Deputy Woody Seevers testified that he was in charge of a "stepped up" narcotics operation on April 30, 1999. Officers worked in pairs on Byrom Street. Seevers was teamed with Randy Counts in an unmarked car, his 1996 Crown Victoria (T 32-33). Seevers wore plainclothes, but also wore a vest which said "sheriff" on the front and back (T 33-34). Counts was in uniform (T 34).

Around 10:30 p.m., Seevers saw two black males walking on Byrom Street. They were almost directly under the street light (T 34). Seevers testified he saw Petitioner, Raymond Barnes, "holding up a plastic bag with the aid of the light, showing the individual the contents of the bag." Could he tell what the contents of the bag were? "No, sir, not offhand. I had speculation as to what it could possibly be" (T 35).

Seevers pulled the car up next to the men. Barnes lowered the bag to his side out of Seevers's view. Seevers pulled up and asked Barnes to talk to him. Both men continued to walk northward on Byrom (T 36). Seevers turned the dome light on inside the car "to make sure that he knew that I was a law enforcement officer." He pulled a little

ahead of the two men. He again said, "Stop and talk to me," and "what are you all doing." How did Barnes respond?

Barnes turned and walked southbound. Seevers put the car in reverse and followed him, the whole time telling him, "Stop and talk to me." Counts got out of the car (T 37).

By the time Counts got to the rear of the car, Barnes took off running; Counts chased him. Seevers parked and told the other man to remain there, then he too started chasing Barnes. Counts had Barnes down on the ground and was attempting to handcuff him (T 38). Major Murray and Detective Carrier arrived. Seevers returned to his car; the other man was not there (T 39).

Seevers did not question Barnes on the way to the jail, but Barnes made comments like, "you know me, man. Don't take me to jail" (T 40).

On cross, asked if he knew Barnes before, Seevers said, "I know who Mr. Barnes is through my years of experience and being with the Sheriff's office. I have seen him on several occa-sions, yes, sir." Seevers had gone to school with one of Barnes's brothers (T 41).

Seevers saw a "bag being held up, which contained something; and based on my training at first I suspected it as being crack cocaine" (T 42). He was not 100% sure as to what was in the bag, but it was similar to the way that narcotics is packaged. He could not identify the exact

substance in the bag (T 42). His suspicion was "based on my experience as a law enforcement officer," and "the area of where I was at." So you would suspect people to be conducting drug transactions in that area? "It's an area known for increased activity." Q: I mean, everybody out there is not involved in illegal activity, are they or are they? A: No, sir. I wouldn't say that. So, when you first approached Barnes, you didn't know whether he had anything that was illegal or not? "I was not 100% sure, but I had a reasonable suspicion" (T 43). But he was mistaken (T 43). Did you have a reasonable suspicion that he had crack cocaine? "I had reasonable suspicion that he possibly had some type of illegal narcotics" (T 43-44). "Based on my training and experience I had reason to believe that a possible drug transaction was about to take place" (T 44).

Did you feel you had a legal basis to detain Barnes?

"I did not detain Mr. Barnes." "I felt like I had legal

justifi-cation to make contact with him and initiate an

officer con-tact." You don't have to have anything to do

that? No. "I simply pulled my vehicle alongside of him and

asked him to talk to me" (T 45).

A: We were up there not only to step up enforcement, but also to improve the relations between law enforcement and the citizenry in that area.

Q: Well did you succeed?

A: I think we've made some successes in that area,

yes, sir, over the years.

Q: So you improved the relationships by chasing some-one through the neighborhood because you see them holding a piece of cellophane?

A: I'm not directly talking about this particular case, Mr. Wade. I'm talking about the citizenry as a whole.

(T 47-48).

On redirect, Seevers said the substance in the bag was white. Crack cocaine could be anything from white to yellow (T 49).

Deputy Randy Counts testified that, from "maybe three car lengths, two, three car lengths," the bag appeared to contain pill-shaped drugs (T 56,66). Counts intended to detain Barnes because he "wanted to ascertain exactly what he had in the plastic bag." Barnes started to run and Counts chased him. Counts yelled at him to stop and identified himself as law enforcement (T 58). When Counts caught Barnes, he handed him over to Carrier, and backtracked to see if he had discarded the bag (T 59). Carrier found the bag in Barnes's pocket, and identified the substance as Lortab (T 60). At the jail, Barnes said the pills came from his mother (T 64).

On cross, asked why they did not jump out of the car immediately and arrest Barnes, Counts said:

Because we wanted. . .to give him an opportunity to dispel any concerns that we had.

(T 66). Counts felt he had

enough information to stop [Barnes], talk to him, try to ascertain exactly what he had in the bag to see if whether or not he had a legal right to have it or not; but up until that point it's unfair for me to just jump out and arrest somebody on something that I don't know if he has. . .permission or if he's able to have that type of stuff.

(T 67). He suspected it was illegal but couldn't prove it (T 67).

Deputy Brent Carrier testified that he searched Barnes and seized the Lortab (T 72). Lortab is hydrocodone, a synthetic morphine, a pain medication (T 73).

Donald Walker, of FDLE, identified the substance as hydro-codone (T 85).

After the state rested, James Walker testified for the defense. Walker is Barnes's stepfather; he is married to Barnes's mother. Barnes was at his house one night in April. Barnes's arms were hurting real bad because he has [bone] spurs in his arms. He needed some pain medication, so Walker gave him some hydrocodone, for which Walker had a prescription (T 109). Walker did not tell him what it was, "because I wasn't even thinking about that at the time" (T 108). Barnes was arrested some time after this, but Walker did not know the exact date on which he gave Barnes the pills (T 109-10).

Barnes acknowledged on the record that he was not going to testify (T 111).

IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I. Barnes's only defense which the jury considered was his stepfather's testimony that he gave Barnes the Lortab for pain without telling him what it was, so Barnes did not know it was a controlled substance. The trial court committed fundamental error in failing to instruct the jury that he must know of the illicit nature of the substance.

Issue II. The first question is whether seeing someone holding a plastic bag on the street with an undetermined some-thing in it gives officers a founded suspicion for a Terry stop. It does not. Although a plastic bag may look suspicious to officers on stepped-up narcotics patrol, that suspicion is a hunch, that is, what they observed was too non-specific to be the well-founded suspicion necessary for a Terry stop, and detaining Barnes was illegal, as was the search.

Second, absent a founded suspicion, the person has the right to walk away from the officers. Yet, the officers twice thwarted Barnes's attempt to walk away, and only then did he run. Running under these circumstances did not convert an invalid stop into a valid stop, and Illinois v. Wardlow, infra, did not address this issue.

V ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED FUNDAMENTAL ERROR IN FAIL-ING TO INSTRUCT THE JURY THAT ONE OF THE ELEMENTS OF POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE WAS THAT THE DEFENDANT MUST KNOW IT IS AN ILLICIT SUBSTANCE; BARNES'S DEFENSE WAS THAT HE DID NOT KNOW IT WAS A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Whether the failure to give a jury instruction is funda-mental error depends on whether the instruction pertains to a disputed element. If it does, the failure to instruct is fun-damental error; if the element is not disputed, then the fail-ure to instruct will not be fundamental error. See Reed v. State, _____ So.2d _____, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1045 (Fla. Dec. 19, 2002). The trial court below failed to instruct the jury that it had to find that Petitioner, Raymond Barnes, had knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance. Because the issue was disputed, omitting the instruction was fundamental error.

The First District Court of Appeal per curiam affirmed (PCA'd) Barnes's conviction of possession of a controlled substance, citing State v. Medlin, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973), and Reed v. State, 783 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). At that time, Reed was pending review in this court, and this court granted review under Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981)(supreme court has jurisdiction to review "PCA cite," if cited case is pending review in supreme court). This court decided Reed December 19, 2002, supra,

reversing the decision of the First District.

Barnes argued that the officers did not have a reasonable suspicion on which to stop him. While this argument was made in some form to the jury, as well as to the judge on a motion to suppress, the jury's questions make clear that the instruc-tions are wholly inadequate to apprise the jury of the stan-dards by which to judge the legal validity of the stop. There-fore, Barnes's only defense which the jury considered was his stepfather's testimony that he gave Barnes the Lortab for pain without telling him what it was, so Barnes did not know it was a controlled substance (T 108-10). His stepfather gave him the medication sometime in April; he did not remember the exact date, but Barnes was arrested sometime after (T 109-10). The jury was instructed twice on the elements of the crimes, except the jury not instructed ever that Barnes had to know the sub-stance was illicit, and the trial court's omission of this instruction was fundamental error. 1

In <u>Chicone</u>, this Court held that knowledge of the illicit nature of the contraband is an element of drug offenses, and the jury should be so instructed. <u>Chicone v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996); <u>see also State v.</u>

¹The jury instructions on the resisting arrest charge were also error, <u>see Starks v. State</u>, 627 So.2d 1194 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993), <u>review denied</u>, 634 So.2d 627 (Fla. 1994), but the jury hung on this count, and the state dismissed the charge.

<u>Dominguez</u>, 509 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1987); <u>Medlin</u>, <u>supra</u>. No such instruction was given in the instant case, despite the fact that this claim was the heart of Barnes's defense.

In <u>Chicone</u>, this Court clarified existing case law and engaged in a comprehensive discussion of the illicit knowledge element of a drug crime. The court held that, while it is not an express element of any drug crime, knowledge is an implicit element of all of such crimes; the information was sufficient even though it failed to allege this element, but the standard jury instruction was deficient for failing to define it for the jury. 684 So.2d at 738 et seq.

The court said:

We are also influenced by the fact that "[t]he exis-tence of a mens rea is the rule of, rather than the exception to, the principles of Anglo-American criminal jurisprudence."

Id. at 743, quoting Dennis v. United States, 341 U.S. 494,
500, 71 S.Ct. 857, 862, 95 L.Ed. 1137 (1951).

The court called Judge Cowart's opinion in <u>State v.</u>

Oxx, 417 So.2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), "perhaps the most comprehen-sive discussion of the issue." <u>Chicone</u>, 684 So.2d at 740. The issue in <u>Oxx</u> was whether a statute prohibiting possession of contraband in a detention facility was unconstitutional due to the lack of a scienter element. The Fifth District held the constitutional issue was mooted because guilty knowledge was an element of the statute, as

it was in other criminal possession statutes. <u>Id.</u> The court said in Oxx:

In its order, the trial court held that the failure of the statute to expressly require mens rea or sci-enter made unknowing possession a criminal offense. This is not correct. Knowledge of possession is gen-erally considered a part of the definition of posses-sion as used in criminal statutes making possession a crime. Section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1981), prohibiting the actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance, and its predecessors, have never specifically required "knowing" possession, yet possession has always been defined to include know-ledge of the same. A similar construction has been placed on other criminal possession statutes. Al-though the legislature may punish an act without regard to any particular (specific) intent, the State must still prove general intent, that is, that the defendant intended to do the act prohibited.

Chicone, 684 So.2d at 741, quoting Oxx, 417 So.2d at 290
(foot-notes omitted). This court added:

We concur in what we perceive to be the essential thrust of the \underline{Oxx} opinion, that "guilty knowledge" must be established in a simple drug possession case.

Chicone, 684 So.2d at 741.

The jury here was instructed as to possession:

One, that the Defendant possessed a certain substance; two, the substance was Lortab or hydrocodone; and three, that the defendant had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

(T 127). The jury was given the same instruction a second time (T 145).

Of an instruction virtually identical to the one above, this Court said in Chicone, 684 So.2d at 745-46:

While the existing jury instructions are adequate in requiring "knowledge of the presence of the sub-stance," we agree that, if specifically requested by a defendant, the trial court should expressly indi-cate to jurors that guilty knowledge means the defen-dant must have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance allegedly possessed. We hold that the defendant was entitled to a more specific instruction as requested here. (footnote omitted)

The knowledge instruction was requested in Chicone, but was not requested here. However, the law is well-settled that failure to instruct the jury accurately on a disputed element is fundamental error. This is the standard of review for fun-damental error in jury instructions. Fundamental error can be raised for the first time on direct appeal, even where trial counsel did not request the instruction. See Mercer v. State, 656 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995); Cordier v. State, 652 So.2d 505 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (leaving scene of accident involving serious injury or death; fundamental error to fail to instruct jury that knowledge that injury or death occurred was essential element); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 650 So.2d 89 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>review</u> denied, 659 So.2d 273 (Fla. 1995) (fundamental error to fail to instruct on knowledge element in cocaine possession, where knowledge disputed); Mancuso v. State, 636 So.2d 753 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), <u>app'd</u>, 652 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1995) (knowledge element of leaving scene of accident with injury or death); Williams v. State, 400 So.2d 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), cert. denied, 459 U.S. 1149, 103 S.Ct. 793, 74

L.Ed.2d 998 (1983)(gives many examples of disputed and undisputed elements).

In <u>Mercer</u>, the defendant was charged with obtaining a controlled substance with a forged prescription. The state proved the prescription was forged. Mercer testified that, while she did obtain the medication, she had no knowledge the prescrip-tion was forged. The trial court instructed the jury in accor-dance with the standard jury instructions, which omitted the element that Mercer must have knowledge of the forgery, and the jury convicted.

The First District found the omission to be fundamental error and reiterated the principle that the standard instructions are only a guide and "cannot relieve the trial court of its responsibility to charge the jury correctly."

656 So.2d at 556, n.1. The court said:

The failure. . .to charge the jury that the state had to prove intent and knowledge on the part of [Mercer] relieved the state of its burden of proving the essential elements of the charged offense, deprived [Mercer] of her sole theory of defense, and may have resulted in an impermissible conviction for a non-existent crime.

656 So.2d at 556.

Since knowledge is an element of the offense here, all that the court said in <u>Mercer</u> is true here also - the jury instruction was fundamentally flawed; it relieved the state of its burden of proving one of the essential elements of the crime; and it deprived Barnes of his chief theory of

defense. Compare Evans v. State, 625 So.2d 915 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), in which the First District held that failure to instruct on the knowledge element was not fundamental error, because knowledge was not disputed, citing State v. Delva, 575 So.2d 643, 645 (Fla. 1991). The corollary applies here - because knowledge was a disputed issue, the failure to properly instruct was fundamental error. See Hubbard v. State, 751 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000).

By definition, fundamental error in Florida is a due pro-cess violation:

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