IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND EDWARD BARNES,

Petitioner,

CASE NO. SC02-1413

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

SHERRI T. ROLLISON ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 128635

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

Petitioner not only failed to request a special instruction, but also affirmatively waived an additional or alternative knowledge instruction. Therefore, absent a request for the instruction, there was no error. Furthermore, because Petitioner is not entitled to reversal, his unpreserved issue is not entitled to review. Furthermore, given the recent enactment of

§ 893.101, it would be a useless act to remand for a new trial because Petitioner would not be entitled to receive the knowledge instruction at issue.

Accordingly, this court should affirm Petitioner's conviction.

ISSUE II:

This issue was not addressed by the district court and does not furnish an independent basis for jurisdiction. This Court should decline to address the issue.

The record shows that the stop was valid and the trial court properly denied Petitioner's motion. Both officers in this case were experienced law enforcement officers and were working a narcotics assignment. While patrolling a high-drug area, they observed Petitioner holding up a plastic bag containing "pills" or a substance that appeared to be crack cocaine, showing it to another person. Both officers recognized this activity as being consistent with a drug transaction. As the

officers approached Petitioner, he attempted to conceal the baggie from sight and as they attempted to stop Petitioner, he refused to cooperate. These facts were only bolstered when Petitioner fled on foot.

The observations of the experienced law enforcement officers suggested that there was criminal activity afoot and their investigation, as allowed by <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, <u>infra</u>, shows that their suspicions were correct. The trial judge correctly found that the stop was justified and properly denied Petitioner's motion to suppress. That ruling, as well as Petitioner's conviction, should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

<u>ISSUE I</u>

DID PETITIONER, BY FAILING TO REQUEST A SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE INSTRUCTION AND BY AFFIRMATIVELY WAIVING AN ADDITIONAL OR ALTERNATIVE KNOWLEDGE INSTRUCTION, PRESERVE THIS ISSUE FOR DIRECT APPEAL AND, IF SO, UNDER THESE CIRCUMSTANCES WAS IT FUNDAMENTAL ERROR FOR THE COURT NOT TO SUA SPONTE INCLUDE A SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE INSTRUCTION? (Restated)

Standard of Review

Petitioner argues that the standard of review is fundamental error. The state does not agree that there is fundamental error and maintains that the claimed error was not cognizable on appeal.

"'Fundamental error,'" which can be considered on appeal without objection in the lower court, is error which goes to the foundation of the case or goes to the merits of the cause of action. The Appellate Court should exercise its discretion under the doctrine of fundamental error very guardedly."

Sanford v. Rubin, 237 So. 2d 134, 137 (Fla. 1970).

"Fundamental error is defined as the type of error which reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error." McDonald v.

State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999)(citations omitted).

Burden of Persuasion

Petitioner bears the burden of demonstrating prejudicial error preserved in the trial court. Section 924.051(7), Fla. Stat. (2000), provides:

In a direct appeal ..., the party challenging the judgment or order of the trial court has the burden of demonstrating that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court. A conviction or sentence may not be reversed absent an express finding that a prejudicial error occurred in the trial court.

"In appellate proceedings the decision of a trial court has the presumption of correctness and the burden is on the Petitioner to demonstrate error." Applegate v. Barnett Bank of Tallahassee, 377 So. 2d 1150, 1152 (Fla. 1979). Moreover, because the trial court's decision is presumed correct, "the appellee can present any argument supported by the record even if not expressly asserted in the lower court." Dade County School Bd. v. Radio Station WOBA, 731 So. 2d 638, 645 (Fla. 1999).

Preservation

This issue is not preserved because it was not raised in the trial court. Petitioner failed to request a special knowledge instruction. [T 100-101]. Petitioner affirmatively waived any additional or alternative instruction [T 100-101], and he did not object to the instructions as proposed or as given. [I 99-105, 126-139]. For the foregoing reasons, there was no error¹, let alone fundamental error. Therefore, because Petitioner

¹ The seminal cases, [Chicone, Scott, McMillon Washington and Williamson, infra,] all found that the trial court erred in denying the "requested" instruction.

failed to properly preserve the issue, it is not cognizable on direct review.

Additionally, in view of Petitioner's affirmative waiver and the evidence that Petitioner fled from the officers, the State submits that it is absurd for Petitioner to assert for the first time on appeal that he was sua sponte entitled to a special knowledge instruction.

MERITS

AFFIRMATIVE WAIVER

It is firmly rooted Florida law that even where it would be fundamental error not to read an instruction, an exception exists when defense counsel requests or affirmatively agrees to the omission or alteration of a jury instruction. Armstrong v. State, 579 So.2d 734 (Fla.1991); State v. Lucas, 645 So.2d 425 (Fla. 1994); Singletary v. State, 829 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); Hanks v. State, 786 So.2d 634, 635 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), review denied 805 So.2d 807 (Fla.2001) (finding that even constitutional error may be waived by a tactical decision on the part of defense counsel); Firsher v. State, No. 3D02-30 (Fla. 3rd DCA Jan. 15, 2003); Summers v. State, 672 So.2d 617 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996).

Although the trial court was under no duty to, sua sponte², give an unrequested jury instruction, the court offered to give

² See argument, infra, the Florida Supreme Court has only held that it is fundamental error to deny a special knowledge instruction where one has been requested.

a special knowledge instruction, which the defense

affirmatively waived:

Court: All right. Now, there is a knowledge issue as to the nature of the particular drug. And I note from the instructions, the standard jury instructions, there's a note to the judge: "If Defense seeks to show a lack of knowledge as to the nature of the particular drug, [an] additional instruction may be required. See.

State versus Medlin, 273 Southern Second 394." Is that something the State is requesting?

Mr. Mochan [State]: The State would not be, Judge.

Court: Do you see where I'm talking about , Mr. Wade? The bottom of page 301.

Mr. Wade [defense]: There was a ...

Court: See -

Mr. Wade: - - I'm assuming that it's the option of what is given here on number three.

Court: Yes.

Mr. Wade: I would be requesting that [number three] .

Court: An I'm going to give three -

Mr. Wade: But further than that there's nothing I'm requesting.

[T 100-101. Emphasis added.]

At the conclusion of the charge conference, the court asked defense counsel: "Is that it, Mr. Wade"? Defense counsel replied, "Yes, Sir" [T 105].

The judge read the jury instructions [T 126-139], including the following instructions on the knowledge element:

Before you can find the Defendant guilty of the crime charged the State must prove the following elements beyond a reasonable doubt: One, that the Defendant possessed a certain substance; two, the substance was Lortab or Hydrocodone; and three, that

the Defendant had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

To possess means to have personal charge of or exercise the right of ownership, management, or control over the thing possessed. Possession may be actual or constructive. Actual possession means the thing is in the hand of, or on the person, or the thing is in the container in the hand of or on the person, or the thing is so close as to be within ready reach an is under control of the person.

Mere proximity to a thing is not sufficient to establish control over that thing when the thing is not in the place over which the person has control. If a person does not have exclusive possession of a thing, knowledge of its presence may not be inferred or assumed.

[T 127-128]. When the trial judge finished reading the jury instruction, the judge asked:

Do either Counsel have any objections to the instructions as given or requests for additional instructions?

[T 139]. Defense counsel responded:

Not from the Defense, your Honor.

[T 140].

Thus, it is clear from the facts that Petitioner was happy with the instructions as given. Petitioner had ample opportunity to offer his own input at the charge conference. The trial court was not only open to giving alternative or additional knowledge instructions, but actually offered to do so. Petitioner affirmatively waived by rejecting the court's offer to give an additional knowledge instruction. Likewise, the court gave Petitioner another opportunity to ask for an additional instruction when he finished reading the approved instructions to the jury. Again, Petitioner had no objection

to the given instructions and declined the court's second offer seeking requests for additional instructions. [T 139].

So, even assuming arguendo, that it had been fundamental error in November of 2000, for the court not to have sua sponte, sans any request, read the knowledge of the illicit nature instruction, the affirmative waiver exception clearly applied in this case.

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

Petitioner claims that the court committed fundamental error when it did not **sua sponte** instruct the jury that the State had to prove that the defendant knew the illicit nature of the substance he possessed, even though Petitioner did not request a special knowledge instruction, and affirmatively refused the court's offer to give one. Petitioner was charged with violating section 893.13(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1997), which provided:

It is unlawful for any person to be in actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance unless such controlled substance was lawfully obtained from a practitioner or pursuant to a valid prescription or order of a practitioner while acting in the course of his or her professional practice or to be in actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance except as otherwise authorized by this chapter.

Both parties agreed that it was an actual personal possession case. [T 100].

The First District Court per curium affirmed, citing

State v. Medlin, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973); and Reed v. State,

783 So.2d 1192 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001), reversed Reed v. State, 27

Fla. L. Weekly S1045 (Fla. December 19, 2002). <u>Barnes v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 815 So.2d 745 (2002). This Court's very specific holding in <u>Reed</u> — that fundamental error occurred because the jury was given the erroneous definition of "maliciously" and because the malice element was disputed at trial— is not controlling in this case because there was no request for a special knowledge instruction and the trial court's offer to give one was explicitly declined.

This Court has only held that it is fundamental error to refuse a special knowledge instruction where a special knowledge instruction is actually requested.

Background

When this case went to trial on November 30, 2000, State v. Medlin, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973); and Chicone v. State, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996), were the leading decisions in cases dealing with knowledge of possession of an illegal drug.

In <u>Medlin</u>, this Court held that in an **actual** possession case, the "State was not required to prove intent to violate the Statute or defendant's specific knowledge of the contents of the capsule." The instant case involves actual possession by the defendant of an illegal drug as noted by both the trial and district courts in citing to <u>Medlin</u>. Moreover, as the facts indisputably show, the defendant fled when approached by the police which is entirely inconsistent with any suggestion for the first time on appeal that knowledge of the nature of the illegal drug was in issue.

By contrast to Medlin and the instant case, <u>Chicone</u> was a case where the defense specifically requested a special jury instruction directing that the Defendant had to know the illicit nature of the substance he possessed. The <u>Chicone</u> court held

While the existing jury instructions are adequate in requiring "knowledge of the presence of the substance," we agree that, if specifically requested by a defendant, the trial court should expressly indicate to jurors that guilty knowledge means the defendant must have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance allegedly possessed. We hold that the defendant was entitled to a more specific instruction as requested here.

Id. at 745-746. Moreover, the last line of footnote fourteen
reads:

Further, consistent with <u>Medlin</u>, the present instructions also note the inference of knowledge that may appropriately be drawn in cases of actual possession.

Id. at 746, fn 14.

The state suggests the obvious. <u>Chicone</u> does not require that a trial court sua sponte instruct the jury on knowledge of the nature of the drug when there is no request for such instruction. Nearly two years after the trial in this case, this Court decided <u>Scott v. State</u>, 808 So.2d 166 (Fla. 2002) and its progeny: <u>McMillon v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 56 (Fla. 2002); <u>Washington v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 59 (Fla. 2002); and <u>State v. Williamson</u>, 813 So.2d 61 (Fla. 2002).

<u>Scott</u>, like <u>Chicone</u> is a possession case, where the special instruction had been requested by the defense. The majority in <u>Scott</u> held:

Knowledge of the illicit nature of the contraband is an element of the crime of possession of a controlled substance, a defendant is entitled to an instruction on that element, and it is error to fail to instruct on that element. [footnote omitted] It is error to fail to give an instruction even if the defendant did not explicitly say he did not have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance. Additionally, the Medlin presumption or inference is applicable to those cases where the defendant has actual, personal possession of the substance. . . . The defendant in this case requested a Chicone instruction. The trial court denied that request; the denial was reversible error.

Id. at 172^3 .

The state again points out that there was no request for a special knowledge instruction in the instant case.

Justice Wells, issued a strong dissent in <u>Scott</u>, stating that the court in both <u>Chicone</u> and <u>Scott</u>, had usurped the legislature's role by writing the element of knowledge into the offense. Justice Wells urged the legislature to quickly amend the statute to say that possession of contraband gives rise to a presumption of knowledge.

On February 28, 2002, this Court decided <u>State v.</u>

<u>Williamson</u>, 813 So.2d 61 (Fla. 2002); <u>McMillon v. State</u>, 813

So.2d 56 (Fla. 2002); and <u>Washington v. State</u>, 813 So.2d 59

³ "Medlin stands for the proposition that evidence of actual, personal possession is enough to sustain a conviction. In other words, knowledge can be inferred from the fact of personal possession. 684 So.2d at 739." Scott v. State, 808 So.2d 166, 171 (Fla. 2002)

(Fla. 2002). Again, in all these cases the special knowledge instruction had been requested and denied. <u>Williamson</u> and <u>McMillon</u> were actual person possession cases, while <u>Washington</u> dealt with constructive possession.

The Williamson court held:

[w]e approve the decision of the Second District finding the trial court should have given the Chicone jury instruction as requested and finding, based on Williamson's defense of lack of knowledge of the illicit nature of the pills, that the error was not harmless.

<u>Id</u>. at 65. Likewise, the <u>McMillon</u> court held:

[w]e find the trial court's failure to grant McMillon's request for the specific jury instruction harmful error.

Id. at 58. The Washington court held almost verbatim:

We find that the trial court's failure to grant Washington's request for the specific jury instruction was harmful error.

Id. at 60.

Justice Wells, dissented in all three cases but reiterated in McMillon:

Writing of elements into crimes is for the Legislature--not this Court.

<u>Id</u>. at 59.

The Florida legislature immediately reacted by adding § 893.101 entitled, "Legislative findings and intent" to Chapter 893 Fla. Stats., effective May 13, 2002:

(1) The Legislature finds that the cases of <u>Scott v. State</u>, Slip Opinion No. SC94701 (Fla. 2002) and <u>Chicone v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996), holding that the state must prove that the defendant knew of the illicit nature of a controlled substance

found in his or her actual or constructive possession, were contrary to legislative intent.

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